STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

06-13-2019

## Case No. 2017AP2292-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONAVINN D. COFFEE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

> NICOLE M. MASNICA Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079819

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 masnican@opd.wi.gov

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Does a defendant forfeit his constitutional due process right to be sentenced based only upon accurate information by failing to make a contemporaneous objection at the time of sentencing, when the nature of the inaccuracy could not have been reasonably determined by counsel at the time the misinformation is presented to the court at the sentencing hearing?

The circuit court did not address this question.

The court of appeals concluded that Mr. Coffee forfeited his constitutional right to be sentenced based on accurate information because neither he, nor trial counsel, made a contemporaneous objection to the State's misrepresentations and material omissions regarding his 2011 arrest, and because he subsequently failed to raise his postconviction challenge as one of ineffective assistance of counsel.

2. Was Mr. Coffee sentenced in violation of his constitutional due process right to be sentenced based only upon accurate information?

While the circuit court agreed that the State presented materially inaccurate information at sentencing by misrepresenting the facts of Mr. Coffee's 2011 arrest and similarly acknowledged that the court relied upon that information, it concluded that because there were other facts in the record justifying the sentence, the error was harmless and resentencing was not required.

The court of appeals did not address the merits of Mr. Coffee's postconviction claim.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has deemed this case appropriate for both oral argument and publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Criminal Charges, Plea & Sentencing

On Tuesday, November 10, 2015, police received reports of two armed robberies between North 25<sup>th</sup> and 28<sup>th</sup> Streets in the City of Milwaukee. (1). Mr. Coffee and his co-defendant, Antonio Hazelwood, were immediately apprehended as suspects. (1). Mr. Coffee was very cooperative with police. He provided a complete confession to the crimes, and also gave a statement against Mr. Hazelwood. (1). As a result, Mr. Coffee was charged in Milwaukee County Case Number 15-CF-4965 with three counts: armed robbery, party to a crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.32(2) and 939.05; attempted armed robbery as party to a crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.32(2), 939.32 and 939.05; and first-degree recklessly endangering safety as party to a crime contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.30(1) and 939.05. (1).

On June 6, 2016, Mr. Coffee entered a guilty plea to all three counts in the criminal complaint. (6; 20). On June 23, 2016, the case proceeded to sentencing, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa presiding. During the sentencing hearing, the State discussed Mr. Coffee's prior criminal record consisting of two misdemeanor convictions. (42:9). The State also told the court that Mr. Coffee had been arrested for an armed robbery in December 2011, noting that it was never formally prosecuted. (42:9). The State argued:

> What's alarming from the State's prospective because of the nature of this offense that's in front of the Court is that December 2011 there was an armed robbery case that was sent to my office. That was a no process.

> So what the defendant has shown here with his past criminal conduct, not only is there a weapon's [sic] related offense, but there was something that triggered a law enforcement investigation and reviewed by my office for offenses by a title similar in nature to this.

(42:9).

While pronouncing sentence, the court referenced the State's assertion about Mr. Coffee's prior arrest history and the armed robbery allegation. (42:22-23). The court opined:

> So you have got some misdemeanor cases; one successful probation, one unsuccessful probation. You have got a couple of police contacts; one

significant concern because it sounds like it was an armed robbery which is what these offenses are.

So you basically are engaging in behavior that is kind of getting more serious. Domestic violence by itself is natured as assaultive behavior, meaning violence against another human being.

But these other things are violence and property crimes, and I don't know what else to call it. So that pattern or your behavior or undesirable behavior is escalating. I don't know what's going on in your head causing you to make these decisions?

(42:22-23).

On that basis, the court issued consecutive prison sentences on each of the three counts for a total of eleven years initial confinement and nine years extended supervision. (20).

#### Postconviction Motion & Decision

Mr. Coffee filed a postconviction motion<sup>1</sup>, which alleged that the State's assertions regarding the 2011 arrest were materially misleading and deprived him his constitutional due process right to a fair sentencing hearing. (27:6-7). He asserted that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In his postconviction motion, Mr. Coffee requested, in the alternative, that the circuit court modify his sentence to a total of eleven years initial confinement and eleven years extended supervision, which the court denied. (27:8-9). Mr. Coffee did not appeal the court's denial on this issue.

State's reference to his prior arrest implied that he had been responsible for another armed robbery prior to the incident before the court – an assertion that was false. (27:6). Because the information was inaccurate and because the court had relied upon the State's claims, Mr. Coffee argued that due process required resentencing, citing *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

In its written reply to the motion, the State submitted police reports it argued substantiated its claim that Mr. Coffee had been arrested for a 2011 armed robbery. (31:4-11). Notably, those reports contained two important pieces of information: (1) the 2011 incident was not an "armed robbery," as there was no allegation of a weapon involved in the theft; and (2) that Mr. Coffee was not the perpetrator of the robbery, as the victim and a second witness confirmed to police that he was not involved in the crime. <sup>2</sup> (31:4-11). As a result, Mr. Coffee was released immediately and never charged. (31:4-11).

(continued)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> During the initial investigation of the robbery, the responding officer drove the victim and witness around the neighborhood in his squad car, looking for potential suspects who matched the description of the robbers. At that same time, Mr. Coffee and his friend were walking down the street into a nearby home. (31:7-8). From afar, the victim told the officer that the two looked similar to the robbers – young black men with dreadlocks. (31:7-8). Police then went to the house Mr. Coffee had entered and arrested both him and his friend. (31:8).

The circuit court denied Mr. Coffee's postconviction motion for resentencing without a hearing. (35). The court concluded that while Mr. Coffee had successfully established both that the State presented inaccurate information and that the court relied upon this information during the sentencing hearing, the error was harmless. (35:4). The court stated:

Even without information about the December 2011 police contact, the fact that the defendant *used* a weapon in the commission of the offenses in this case *and that he shot one of his victims* would have led the court to the same conclusion that he was "engaging in behavior that is getting more serious" and that his "pattern...of undesirable behavior is escalating.

(35:4).

#### The Appeal & Decision

On appeal, Mr. Coffee sought review of the circuit court's denial of his request for resentencing. He argued out that while the circuit court correctly concluded that the information presented at the sentencing hearing by the State was inaccurate and that it had actually relied upon the misinformation at the time of sentencing, the court misapplied the

When police returned to speak with the victim that same day, the victim and witness both stated upon seeing the young men closer, they knew they had not committed the robbery. (31:9-10).

harmless error standard, improperly pointing to other facts in the record that supported the prison sentence ordered by the court. Opening Brief of the Defendant-Appellant at 9-12, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR.

In its response brief, the State argued for the first time that Mr. Coffee had forfeited his right to appellate review, as neither he nor trial counsel objected to the State's presentation at the sentencing hearing, and because Mr. Coffee did not raise the claim in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel. Brief of the Plaintiff-Respondent at 6-8, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR.

In his reply brief, Mr. Coffee argued that contrary to the State's new claim that the forfeiture rule was applicable to due process challenges to a sentence based on inaccurate information, there was no rule or binding precedent requiring these claims to be raised under rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel. Reply Brief of the Defendant-Appellant at 1-2, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR. Notably, he pointed out that not one of the cases cited by the State in support of its position involved a constitutional due process challenge to a sentence based upon the presentation of inaccurate information. Reply Brief of the Defendant-Appellant at 2, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR.

Likewise, not one Wisconsin case setting forth the rubric for assessing resentencing requests based upon reliance on inaccurate information mandated or even mentioned the need for trial counsel to object to the inaccurate information in order to preserve the claim. Reply Brief of the Defendant-Appellant at 2-3, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR.

Instead, the binding law under *Tiepelman* and progeny guiding review of these claims require only that a defendant establish by clear and convincing evidence (1) that inaccurate information was presented at sentencing, and (2) that the court relied upon that information when ordering sentence. If a defendant has satisfied that burden, the State must prove the error was harmless or resentencing is required. Reply Brief of the Defendant-Appellant at 3-4, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR.

Mr. Coffee also noted that this court's *Tiepelman* ruling specifically addressed the lower courts' practice of conflating the analysis of due process sentencing challenges with the rubric guiding ineffective claims.<sup>3</sup> The *Tiepelman* holding made it clear that a defendant need not prove *prejudicial* reliance on inaccurate information. Reply Brief of the Defendant-Appellant at 3-4, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR. As such, he argued, the Wisconsin Supreme Court had already expressed disfavor in applying the ineffective assistance of counsel rubric to due process

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The *Tiepelman* court concluded that the court of appeals had come "perilously close to conflating its analysis of the due process challenge with the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel" in *State v. Anderson*, 222 Wis. 2d 403, 588 N.W.2d 75 (Ct. App. 1998). 2006 WI 66, ¶23.

claims like Mr. Coffee's. Reply Brief of the Defendant-Appellant at 3-4, *Coffee*, 2017AP2292-CR.

On November 6, 2018, the court of appeals issued a per curiam opinion affirming the circuit court's denial of Mr. Coffee's resentencing claim.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Notably, on the same day the decision of the court of appeals was issued in this case, District III of the court of appeals released an opinion applying the forfeiture rule to a similar due process sentencing challenge in *State v. Carrie E. Counihan*, 2017AP2265-CR, 385 Wis. 2d 211, 923 N.W.2d 180 (Ct. App. 2018). Counihan petitioned this court for review, and the request was granted. The case is set to be argued the same day as this matter.

While the *Counihan* case invokes the principles considered in *Tiepelman* and a due process challenge to the appellant's sentencing procedure, Counihan did not assert that the court relied upon false information at sentencing. *Counihan* at ¶14. Counihan entered a plea to five misdemeanor counts of theft from the Door County Humane Society. At the time of sentencing, the court informed the parties it had reviewed sentences imposed in other Door County court cases involving theft in a business setting to prepare for the proceeding. Trial counsel did not object at the time of the hearing or request an adjournment to conduct its own review of the cases.

On appeal, Counihan pointed to *Tiepelman* to support her contention that the court of appeals should directly address the alleged due process violation in her case. The court of appeals rejected that request, concluding that because *Tiepelman* never addressed the applicability of the forfeiture rule in due process sentencing challenges, it was "inapposite," (continued)

State v. Coffee, 2017AP2292-CR, 385 Wis. 2d 211, 923 N.W.2d 181 (Ct. App. 2018). The court of appeals adopted the State's position, concluding that because Mr. Coffee failed to object to the inaccurate information the State presented at sentencing and because he did not raise his claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel in postconviction proceedings, "he forfeited his right to have this court review his claim that the circuit court relied on inaccurate Coffee, arrest." information about the 20112017AP2292-CR, ¶8.

The court of appeals held as a general matter that when "trial counsel does not object to the information provided by the State or to the trial court's findings, the defendant has forfeited his right to review other than in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel." *Id.* at ¶7.

and thus, not instructive. *Counihan*, 2017AP2265-CR,  $\P$ 11. Therefore, the matter could only be reviewed under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The court of appeals addressed only the prejudice prong of the *Strickland* analysis. *Id.* at  $\P\P13-14$ , citing *Strickland* v. *Washington*, 466 U.S.668, 687. The court opined that "Counihan could have reviewed [the cases cited by the sentencing court] and provided either the circuit court at her post-conviction motion hearing, or this court on appeal, with any inaccurate information she believed the circuit court relied upon at sentencing." *Id.* at ¶17. She did not, and the court therefore concluded that her claim of prejudice was speculative at best. *Id.* 

The court of appeals disagreed with Mr. Coffee that the *Tiepelman* court did not intend that this category of claims be brought under the ineffective assistance of counsel rubric. *Id.* at ¶11. The court concluded that because the State had not argued forfeiture in that case, it "was not convinced that *Tiepelman* contradicts the application of the forfeiture rule." *Id.* at ¶11.

Mr. Coffee filed a petition for review, which this court granted on May 14, 2019.

### ARGUMENT

I. A defendant's right to be sentenced based only upon accurate information is rooted in the due process clause of the U.S. and Wisconsin Constitutions, and is not subject to forfeiture.

The court of appeals incorrectly concluded that failure to wage a contemporaneous objection to inaccurate information presented by the State at a sentencing hearing constitutes forfeiture of the right to appellate review "other than in the context of ineffective of counsel." assistance Coffee, 2017AP2292-CR, ¶7. This holding is contrary to the principles that serve as a foundation to a fair criminal justice system, and undermines the intended outcomes of equity and efficiency that the forfeiture rule aims to protect.

Mr. Coffee offers two primary arguments in support of his position. First, he points to the breadth of long-standing federal and Wisconsin appellate cases spanning decades that has developed and clarified the rubric under which due process challenges to a criminal sentence based on inaccurate information be decided. Not one case imposes a requirement that this type of postconviction claim be raised as ineffective assistance of counsel absent a contemporaneous objection at sentencing. A holding to the contrary would be a significant departure from current law, and one that this court should decline to undertake. That courts have employed the forfeiture rule in other types of sentencing challenges is irrelevant to the due process issue in this case.

Second, the broad application of the forfeiture rule in this context will not promote the fair administration of justice or judicial efficiency. Employing the forfeiture doctrine here will have the unintended consequence of unnecessarily grinding countless sentencing proceedings in this state to a halt, as defense counsel will now be required to object to the presentation of any information trial counsel did not have an opportunity to independently and thoroughly vet prior to sentencing, regardless of its potential relevance to the sentencing court or the negative consequences doing so will have on defendants and victims alike.

For these reasons, Mr. Coffee asks this court to reverse the decision of the court of appeals, and to conclude that a defendant has a constitutional due process right to be sentenced based only upon accurate information, and that this right is so fundamental to a fair justice system that it is not subject to forfeiture.

> A. A defendant has a constitutional due process right to be sentenced based upon accurate information.

An individual subject to a criminal penalty has a constitutionally-protected due process right to be sentenced based only upon accurate information. State v. Tiepelman, 2006 WI 66, ¶9, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1, citing State v. Johnson, 158 Wis. 2d 458, 468, 463 N.W.2d 352 (Ct. App. 1990) (citation omitted)). This principle was first recognized by the U.S. Supreme Court seventy years ago in *Townsend* v. Burke, 334 U.S. 736 (1948), and has been the basis for appellate relief in federal and Wisconsin courts alike for decades. A fair sentencing process in "one in which the court goes through a rational procedure of selecting a sentence based on relevant considerations and accurate information." Tiepelman, 2006 WI 66, ¶26 (quoting U.S. ex rel. Welch v. Lane, 738 F.2d 863, 864-865 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1984)). When the sentencing proceeding is tainted with false or misleading information,<sup>5</sup> causing an individual to be sentenced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Both this Court and federal courts have addressed the importance of a fair and transparent sentencing process in other contexts. See Brady v. Maryland. 373 U.S. 83 (1963); State v. Wayerski, 2019 WI 11, 385 Wis. 2d 344, 922 N.W.2d 468. In Brady, the U.S. Supreme Court noted that a prosecutor (continued)

based on assumptions that are "materially untrue...[, it] is inconsistent with due process of law, and such a conviction cannot stand." *Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶10 (quoting *Townsend*, 334 U.S. 736, 741).

The U.S. Supreme Court laid the foundation for modern appellate review of these types of claims in U.S. v. Tucker, 404 U.S. 443 (1972). There, the court concluded that when inaccurate information material to a sentencing proceeding is presented, the question that concerns the reviewing court is whether the outcome of the case – the ultimate sentence ordered – might have been different. *Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶12, citing *Tucker*, 404 U.S. 443, 448. If that answer is yes, resentencing is required.

The standard for assessing these claims was further developed in U.S. ex rel. Welch v. Lane, 738 F.2d 863. In Welch, the Seventh Circuit concluded that a sentence must be set aside and resentencing held where a defendant has established "that false information was part of the basis for the sentence." Welch, 738 F.2d at 865. To make such a showing, a defendant must prove that: (1) the information before the sentencing court was inaccurate; and (2) that the sentencing court actually relied upon the inaccurate information in imposing sentence. Id. Reliance on inaccurate information is established where the

who withholds evidence that would tend to exculpate a defendant or reduce his penalty is cast "in the role of an architect of a proceeding that does not comport with standards of justice." *Id.* at 87-88.

record reflects that the sentencing judge gave "specific consideration" or "explicit attention" to the information, such that the misinformation "formed part of the basis for the sentence." Welch, 738 F.2d at 866 (citing U.S. v. Hubbard, 618 F.2d 422, 425 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979)). The Seventh Circuit found that "the fact that other information *might* have justified the sentence, independent of the inaccurate information, is irrelevant when the court has relied on inaccurate information as *part* of the basis for the sentence." *Id*. (emphasis in original).

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