RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-24-2019

IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP2292-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONAVINN D. COFFEE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE FREDERICK C. ROSA, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Coffee contends that many cases have addressed inaccurate-information claims directly in the absence of a contemporaneous objection. (Coffee's Br. 17–18.) But none of these cases hold that such claims should not be reviewed through ineffective assistance of counsel.

In one of the cases, *United States v. Oliver*, 873 F.3d 601, 608–10 (7th Cir. 2017), the court found forfeiture and reviewed the claim for plain error. Thus, Coffee is wrong to say that the court overlooked the forfeiture in *Oliver*. Instead, the court enforced the forfeiture and applied a more stringent standard of review.⁵

(continued on next page)

⁵ Coffee suggests in a footnote that the Court in *Oliver* did not actually review the inaccurate-information claim under plain error because it applied the constitutional test when it addressed the claim. (Coffee's Br. 17 n.8.) Coffee is wrong. The court announced that it was reviewing all of Oliver's claims for plain error. *United States v. Oliver*, 873 F.3d 601, 607 (7th Cir. 2017). The court's reliance on the constitutional test in holding that there was no error does not change its conclusions that Oliver forfeited his claims and that it was reviewing for plain error. To show plain error, a defendant must first show an error, and whether one exists depends on the law governing the claim.

Coffee also cites *Tiepelman*, but as noted, forfeiture was never an issue in that case because the State never raised it. 286 Wis. 2d 464, ¶ 6 n.1. (Coffee's Br. 16–17.) Similarly, it does not appear that the parties ever addressed forfeiture in *Travis* or the two unpublished decisions that Coffee relies on. (Coffee's Br. 17–18.) Thus, it is not surprising that the courts did not discuss or apply forfeiture in these cases. Appellate courts have no obligation to consider issues that the parties do not raise. *See Waushara County v. Graf*, 166 Wis. 2d 442, 453, 480 N.W.2d 16 (1992).

Next, Coffee notes that *Carprue*, which the court of appeals relied for the principle that forfeited claims should be addressed as ones of ineffective assistance, predates *Tiepelman*. (Coffee's Br. 19 n.10.) He contends that had this Court wanted to enforce forfeiture and require an ineffective assistance analysis for forfeited claims in *Tiepelman*, it could have relied on *Carprue* to do so. (Coffee's Br. 19 n.10.)

Again, this ignores that *Tiepelman* did not address forfeiture. And Coffee's argument cuts both ways. If this Court was "undeniably well-versed with the issue of forfeiture" at the time it decided *Tiepelman*, it could have decided that inaccurate-information claims could never be forfeited. (Coffee's Br. 19 n.10.) This is particularly true

Also, it is unsurprising that *Oliver* did not address the forfeited claim as one of ineffective assistance. (Coffee's Br. 17.) *Oliver* was a direct appeal. In the federal system, unlike Wisconsin, defendants generally may not raise claims of ineffective assistance on direct appeal. *See Massaro v. United States*, 538 U.S. 500, 504–05 (2003); *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 173, 517 N.W.2d 157. Instead, federal defendants present ineffective-assistance claims in a collateral challenge under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. *Massaro*, 538 U.S. at 504–05. Thus, a claim of ineffective assistance was not available in *Oliver*.

given the footnote in the court of appeals' *Tiepelman* decision suggesting that forfeiture might not apply. 286 Wis. 2d 464, ¶ 6 n.1. Thus, this Court's decision in *Tiepelman* is best viewed as having nothing to say about forfeiture.

Coffee further argues that reviewing forfeited claims as ones of ineffective assistance of counsel "will only cause further delay and inefficiency in the circuit courts" because of the need to hold *Machner* hearings. (Coffee's Br. 31–32.) But most of that inefficiency and delay will have been caused by the defendant's failure to object at sentencing, which would have allowed the court or the parties to immediately correct any error. And regardless of whether a forfeited inaccurate-information claim is reviewed in the context of ineffective assistance, the defendant will need to make the arguments in a postconviction motion. That, as much as an evidentiary hearing, will add significant delay to the judicial process.

In sum, ineffective assistance of counsel should be the preferred method of reviewing forfeited claims that a court sentenced a defendant based on inaccurate information.

b. Coffee is not entitled to relief on a claim of ineffective assistance.

This Court should also conclude that any ineffective assistance claim that Coffee could raise would not succeed.

Initially, Coffee has forfeited any claim of ineffective assistance that he could raise on appeal by not asserting it in his postconviction motion. (R. 27.) *State ex rel. Rothering v. McCaughtry*, 205 Wis. 2d 675, 677, 556 N.W.2d 136 (Ct. App. 1996). Thus, Coffee did not adequately preserve an ineffective assistance claim for appellate review. *See Coffee*, 2018 WL 5819588, ¶ 8.

In addition, even had Coffee raised a claim, it would fail on the merits. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Coffee must establish both that his "counsel's performance was deficient" and that this performance prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

To demonstrate deficient performance, a defendant must establish that his or her counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

To satisfy the prejudice prong, the defendant must show a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

Coffee is inconsistent about whether an ineffective assistance claim is available to him. His arguments suggest that he thinks that it is impossible to for him prove that his counsel performed deficiently. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Specifically, Coffee contends that it would be unreasonable to expect his counsel to have been prepared to object because information about his arrest was not easily discoverable. (Coffee's Br. 18–19 n.9). Coffee even claims that it was not reasonable to expect him to know the circumstances of his own arrest. (Coffee's Br. 18.) But, despite these arguments, Coffee also asks this Court, if it concludes that his claim should be raised in the context of ineffective assistance, to remand to the circuit court so he can add this claim to his postconviction motion. (Coffee's Br. 28.)

This Court need not resolve the tension in Coffee's argument because he cannot show prejudice. There is no reasonable probability of a different sentence had the circuit court not relied on the incorrect information about Coffee's 2011 arrest.

The only inaccuracy in the State's sentencing argument is that Coffee's 2011 arrest for robbery involved a weapon. Police reports from the arrest show that it was for robbery, not armed robbery. (R. 31:4–11.)

Coffee's sentence would have been the same had the court known that Coffee's prior arrest did not involve a weapon. The circuit court concluded that Coffee's prior convictions and arrests showed that he was "engaging in behavior that is kind of getting more serious." (R. 42:22.) Similarly, it noted that his "behavior or undesirable behavior is escalating." (R. 42:23.) This all remains true whether police previously arrested Coffee for robbing someone with or without a weapon. Coffee had been convicted of a domestic violence crime and carrying a concealed weapon. He was arrested for battery and robbery. The court was sentencing him for robbing two people at gunpoint and shooting one of them. Coffee's behavior was "escalating" and "getting more serious" whether his previous arrest was for armed robbery or robbery.

And Coffee's arrest was a small part of the court's overall explanation of its sentence. The court focused on the crimes' severity and effect on the victims. (R. 42:20–23.) It also discussed Coffee's personal characteristics, including his family support, education, and work history. (R. 42:23–24.) Finally, the court discussed the need to protect the public. (R. 42:24–25.) That Coffee was arrested for an armed robbery, as opposed to a robbery without using a weapon, was not critical to the court's sentence. The sentence would have been the same had the court known the correct details of Coffee's arrest. Thus, Coffee was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to object, and there is no reason for this Court to remand for further proceedings on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

2. Plain error

Some unpreserved inaccurate-information claims might not fit into the ineffective-assistance mold. This Court should conclude that such claims are reviewable under the plain-error doctrine. But this Court should also determine that Coffee's claim does not rise to the level of plain error, so he cannot obtain relief on the merits.

The plain error doctrine, recognized in Wis. Stat. $\S 901.03(4)$, "allows appellate courts to review errors that were otherwise [forfeited] by a party's failure to object." *State v. Jorgensen*, 2008 WI 60, ¶ 21, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77 (citation omitted). A plain error is one that is "so fundamental that a new trial or other relief must be granted even though the action was not objected to at the time." *Id.* (citation omitted). The error must be "obvious and substantial," and courts should use the doctrine sparingly. *Id.* (citation omitted).

Whether an error is plain is not subject to a bright-line rule. State v. Lammers, 2009 WI App 136, ¶ 13, 321 Wis. 2d 376, 773 N.W.2d 463 (citing Virgil v. State, 84 Wis. 2d 166, 190–91, 267 N.W.2d 852 (1978). The existence of a plain error depends on the facts of each case. Jorgensen, 310 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 22. The evidence properly admitted and the seriousness of the error are "particularly important" in determining whether an error is plain. Id. Plain error should be found "where a basic constitutional right has not been extended to the accused." Id. ¶ 21. (citation omitted).

"If the defendant shows that the unobjected to error is fundamental, obvious, and substantial, the burden then shifts to the State to show the error was harmless." *Jorgensen*, 310 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 23.

There may be cases where the ineffective-assistance rubric does not allow for review of a meritorious but unpreserved inaccurate-information claim. For example, if Coffee is correct that his counsel could not have reasonably learned about the details of the arrest before sentencing, then, arguably, it would be impossible for him to prove that his counsel performed deficiently by not objecting. Yet if Coffee could show that the court sentenced him based on inaccurate information, he would be left without any possible remedy.

In such circumstances, and where the defendant can show that the error is fundamental, obvious, and substantial, plain error allows appellate courts to address the error and afford defendants relief.

But here, Coffee's claim does not amount to a plain error. Admittedly, the court erred when describing Coffee's criminal history. But whether Coffee's 2011 arrest was for armed robbery or robbery was not important to the court's overarching point when it discussed the arrest—that Coffee was engaging in escalating criminal behavior. And while the court described the crime of the prior arrest as similar to Coffee's current offense, that remains true even if the previous arrest was for mere robbery. Both robbery and armed robbery involve stealing things from people by use or threat of force. Wis. Stat. § 943.32(1) and (2). The court's error was in the details, not its overall decision. It was not a substantial, fundamental, or obvious error.

In addition, the court's error was harmless. Again, the arrest and its details were a small part of the court's explanation of its sentence, which focused on Coffee's crime of conviction, his personal characteristics, and the need to protect the public. And the court could, of course, properly consider Coffee's arrest when sentencing him. *State v. Allen*, 2017 WI 7, ¶ 30, 373 Wis. 2d 98, 890 N.W.2d 245 (court may consider unproven charges at sentencing). Even had the court known that Coffee's arrest was for a robbery conducted

by punching the victim in the face rather than using a weapon, its sentence would have been the same.

In sum, Coffee forfeited his claim and this Court should decline to address it as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or plain error.

II. If this Court overlooks Coffee's forfeiture, it should conclude that the circuit court's reliance on Coffee's 2011 arrest was harmless.

Forfeiture is a rule of judicial administration that a court can choose not to apply. *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 766; *Leitner*, 247 Wis. 2d 195, ¶ 42. If this Court overlooks Coffee's forfeiture and addresses Coffee's claim directly—that is, not as an ineffective assistance claim or under plain error—it should conclude that any erroneous reliance by the circuit court on Coffee's 2011 arrest was harmless.

A defendant has a due process right to be sentenced upon materially accurate information. *Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 9. A defendant seeking resentencing on the grounds that the circuit court used inaccurate information at sentencing must show, first, "that the information was inaccurate," and second, that the court actually relied on that information in forming its sentence. Id. ¶ 26.

If the defendant satisfies those requirements, the burden "shifts to the [S]tate to prove the error was harmless." *Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 26. The State meets this burden by demonstrating that the court "would have imposed the same sentence absent the error." *Travis*, $347 \text{ Wis. } 2d 142, \P 73.$

For the reasons already explained, the circuit court's sentence would have been the same even had it not thought that Coffee's 2011 arrest was for armed robbery. Again, it was not error for the court to consider Coffee's prior arrest

even though it did not lead to a charge or conviction. *Allen*, 373 Wis. 2d 98, ¶ 30. Had the court received the correct information about the arrest, it still would have known that Coffee was arrested for a serious offense involving taking another person's property without consent and by threat of force. The court also would have still known that Coffee was not prosecuted for this crime. And, as argued, the arrest was a minor part of the court's sentencing decision. The court's mistaken belief at sentencing that Coffee's prior arrest had been for armed robbery was harmless error.

Coffee disagrees. He challenges the circuit court's finding of harmlessness, claiming that it misapplied the law by finding other facts in the record to support its sentence. (Coffee's Br. 35–36.)

The court did not err. It explained that the focus of its sentencing decision was on "the defendant's conduct in *this* case, his contribution to the prevalence of gun violence that is threatening the fabric of our community, the impact of his crime upon the victims and the greater community, his background and rehabilitative needs, and the need to protect the public." (R. 35:4.) It also said that the fact Coffee used a weapon in this case and shot one of his victims "would have led the court to the same conclusion that he was 'engaging in behavior that is getting more serious' and that his 'pattern . . . of undesirable behavior is escalating." (R. 35:4.) Thus, the court focused on the error's effect on its sentencing decision and concluded that there was none. It correctly applied harmless-error law.

Coffee also argues that the court's belief that his arrest had been for armed robbery was central to the court's application of the required sentencing factors. (Coffee's Br. 36–38.) He points specifically to the court's mentioning the arrest when it said that Coffee's current crime was part of

his escalating pattern of crimes. (Coffee's Br. 37–38; R. 42:22–23.)

But the court's comment shows just that it relied on the inaccurate information. It does not make the court's reliance prejudicial. As argued, the court got a detail of Coffee's 2011 arrest wrong. That detail mattered little to the court's sentence, which would have been the same had the court known the correct facts. The court's reliance on the incorrect information about Coffee's arrest was harmless.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the court of appeals' decision. Dated this 24th day of July 2019.